

JSRI

Latino-Owned Businesses: Startup Fund Sources and Implications in Comparison to Other Racial/Ethnic Groups

by

Rubén O. Martinez, Bette Avila, Olga Santiago. and Jennifer Tello Buntin

> Research Report No. 48 September 2011

Julian Samora Research Institute

Michigan State University 301 Nisbet Building 1407 S. Harrison Road East Lansing, MI 48823-5286

> Phone: (517) 432-1317 Fax: (517) 432-2221 E-mail: jsamorai@msu.edu Web: www.jsri.msu.edu

The Midwest's premier Hispanic center undertaking research on issues of relevance to the Hispanic community in the social sciences and economic and community development. JSRI is a unit of the College of Social Sciences and is affiliated with various units on the Michigan State University campus



Latino-Owned Businesses: Startup Fund Sources and Implications in Comparison to Other Racial/Ethnic Groups*

by

Rubén O. Martinez, Bette Avila, Olga Santiago. and Jennifer Tello Buntin Julian Samora Research Institute, Michigan State University

Research Report No. 48

Abstract

September 2011

Using the Kauffman Firm Survey (KFS) longitudinal dataset (2004-2009), this study examined the type of startup funding sources that Latino business owners utilized in their first year of operation, compared the results with businesses owned by other races/ethnicities, and explored the impact on firm survivability. Based on previous literature that suggests that formal (bank and financial institution) funds are vital to long term business success, we explored this hypothesis using a sample of 4,815 businesses at the baseline year (2004) with n=244 Latino-owned businesses. Overall, our results suggested that Latinos utilized a significantly (p > .05) larger percentage of informal funds as compared to Whites and a smaller percentage of formal funds and that Latino-owned businesses are at greater risk of going out of business compared to White-owned businesses regardless of startup fund type.

About the Authors

Dr. Rubén Martinez is the director of JSRI at Michigan State University. He is a nationally known scholar with expertise in the areas of higher education, race, and ethnic relations and diversity leadership. His areas of specialization include leadership and institutional change, education and ethnic minorities, youth development, and environmental justice.

Bette Avila is a doctoral student in the Department of Sociology at Michigan State University and a graduate research assistant at the Julian Samora Institute. Prior to attending MSU for her doctoral degree, she received a Master's in Public Administration from the Baruch College (CUNY) School of Public Affairs in 2008. She currently works as a graduate research assistant at JSRI and focuses on employment issues affecting the Latino community.

Dr. Olga Santiago received her Ph.D. in Kinesiology from Michigan State University in 2010. She is an Extension Specialist with the MSU-Extension Office of Health and Nutrition.

Dr. Jennifer Tello Buntin received her Ph.D. in Sociology from the University of Chicago in 2010. In her research, she examines the ways that receiving community institutions transform in response to the presence of a transnational immigrant population. Her work investigates the ways that assimilation and trans-nationalism may occur simultaneously and the implications of this for both immigrant and non-immigrant residents.

*We are thankful to the Kauffman Foundation for allowing us to utilize the Kauffman Firm Survey data to conduct this study and to their staff for the prompt and helpful assistance provided whenever we requested it.



Michigan State University
East Lansing, Michigan



SUGGESTED CITATION

Martinez, Rubén (Ph.D.), Bette Avila, Olga Santiago (Ph.D.), and Jennifer Tello Buntin (Ph.D.). "Latino-Owned Businesses: Startup Fund Sources and Implications in Comparison to Other Racial/Ethnic Groups," JSRI Research Report # 48, The Julian Samora Research Institute, Michigan State University, East Lansing, Michigan, 2011.

The **Julian Samora Research Institute** (**JSRI**) is committed to the generation, transmission, and application of knowledge to serve the needs of Latino communities in the Midwest. To this end, it has organized a number of publication initiatives to facilitate the timely dissemination of current research and information relevant to Latinos.

Latinos in Michigan -- A focused approach to disseminating information on Latinos in the state of Michigan. These specialized reports include documents, charts, and graphs that utilize primary data from JSRI's researchers and initiatives.

Research Reports -- JSRI's flagship publication for scholars who want to produce a quality publication with more detail than is usually allowed in mainstream journals. Research Reports are selected for their significant contribution to the knowledge base of Latinos.

Working Papers -- For scholars who want to share their preliminary findings and obtain feedback from others in Chicano and Latino studies.

Statistical Briefs/CIFRAS -- For distribution of "facts and figures" on Latino issues and conditions. Also designed to address policy questions and to highlight important topics.

Occasional Papers -- For the dissemination of speeches, papers, and practices of value to the Latino community which are not necessarily based on a research project. Examples include historical accounts of people or events, "oral histories," motivational talks, poetry, speeches, and legal and technical reports.

Demographic Reports -- JSRI demographic summaries use primary data from research projects and secondary data from government sources. Examples include census data; projected population summarizations; statistical profiles of Latino household size, educational attainment, and earned income; and localized and regional population projections.

NEXO Newsletter JSRI's official newsletter is produced in both printed and pdf formats. Comments can be sent to <u>isamorai@isri.msu.edu.</u>

Latino-Owned Businesses:

Startup Fund Sources and Implications in Comparison to Other Racial/Ethnic Groups

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Background	1
Data and Study Sample	2
Study Sample	3
Dependent Variables	
Firm Survivability	3
Independent Variables	3
Personal Funds	
Formal Funds	
Informal Funds	
Control Variables	4
Individual Level Variables	4
Race/Ethnicity	4
Gender	4
Age	4
Education	4
Work Experience	
Business Level Variables	
Business Technology Level	4
Home-based Business	4
High Barrier vs. Low Barrier Industries	5
Analytical Strategy	5
Findings	5
Descriptive Statistics	
Cox Survival Analysis	
Racial/ethnic Group	
Education and Work Experience	8
Gender	
High vs. Low Barrier Industries	
Discussion	8
Study Limitations	9
Implications for Practice	9
Implications for Future Research	10
References	11

Latino-Owned Businesses:

Startup Fund Sources and Implications in Comparison to Other Racial/Ethnic Groups

Introduction

The number of Latino businesses is on the rise, with an increase of 43.7% between 2002 and 2007 (U.S. Census Bureau, 2010). This increase is double the overall national rate of 18%. Latino-owned businesses are an important and growing segment of the U.S. economy. According to recent statistics from the Survey of Business Owners, Latino-owned businesses generated \$345.2 billion in sales in 2007, up 55% from 2002. Moreover, the number of Latino-owned businesses with \$1 million in receipts grew by approximately 52% between 2002 and 2007. Still, Latinos face critical barriers to obtaining formal funds for their business ventures, including age, lack of assets, and discrimination from lenders and lending agencies (Contreras & Griffith, 2009; Robles & Cordero-Guzmán, 2007). Not unlike other minority groups, Latino business owners are forced to rely on family loans, personal savings, or credit cards to fund their business ventures. Latinos also often lack the necessary educational backgrounds, experience, and training vital to successful business operation (Robles & Cordero-Guzmán, 2007). Consequently, Latino business owners have to rely on "trust networks" developed in primarily co-ethnic communities to compensate for their lack of access to formal credit and business saavy. Currently, the existing literature on Latino businesses fails to look at both the individual (owner) and firm characteristics that impact business success. This analysis helps to fill the void in the literature using a dynamic dataset that provides both owner and firm characteristics.

Background

The following section summarizes previous findings on Latino businesses in the United States and the factors that impact their success. Currently, the available literature is limited and more research needs to be conducted to identify the specific factors affecting Latino business success.

Latinos are motivated by several factors to start their own businesses. For example, previous research suggests that Latinos are driven by a high level of intrinsic motivation to start up new businesses (Cardon,

Shinnar, Eisenman, & Rogoff, 2008). Additionally, the perceived potential for higher income and improvement in their economic situation also motivates Latinos to start up their own businesses. Other factors that impact Latinos' decisions to start a business include low educational attainment, blocked mobility, the prevalence of ethnic enclaves, discrimination in previous jobs, childcare constraints, and poor work conditions in employment (Raijman & Tienda, 2000; Shinnar & Young, 2008; Zarrugh, 2007). Once in business, however, Latinos are more likely to leave new businesses behind due to several reasons, including the lack of access to financial capital and the vulnerability of the sectors in which their businesses are located (Fairlie, 2005; Fairlie & Woodruff, 2010; Georgarakos & Tatsiramos, 2007).

Latinos tend to concentrate in the most economically vulnerable sectors, such as the services (Puryear, et al., 2008; Robles & Cordero-Guzmán, 2007), construction, wholesale trade, and retail trade sectors (U.S. Census Bureau, 2010). Other studies find that Latino business clientele are mainly other Latinos, suggesting that many Latino-owned businesses are located within an ethnic enclave and thereby remain outside of the major sectors of the U.S. economy (Delgado, 2006; Granier, 2006; Grey, Rodriguez, & Conrad, 2004).

Another major factor impacting Latino business success is the lack of financial resources. Previous research suggests that Latinos primarily finance their businesses with personal savings and informal loans from friends and family, and "prestamistas" or moneylenders (Granier, 2006; Haynes, Onochie, & Lee, 2008; Raijman & Tienda, 2000). For example, results from a study of four rural Iowa communities suggest that Latino businesses utilized financial capital from business or home ownership in a previous location, family capital, and/or savings from previous jobs to fund their new business ventures (Flora, Thompson, Prado-Meza, & Flora, 2010). Similarly, data from the 2005 NMBOS suggests that in comparison to Korean-Americans, Mexican-American business owners borrow more from finance companies, family, friends, suppliers, and credit cards and have a lower proportion of bank loan debt (Haynes, Onochie & Lee, 2008).



Latinos have lower net worth which also impacts their ability to obtain formal startup funds. Specifically, because of their lower net worth, Latinos have double the rate of bank loan denials, and lack of home ownership is one of the primary reasons for those denials (Cavalluzzo & Wolken, 2005). Other reasons for denials include a lack of a credit report for new immigrants (Granier, 2006). However, even after controlling for credit history, credit rating, characteristics of firms and owners, lenders and lending institutions, and region there is still discrimination against Latino business owners (Blanchard, Zhao, & Yinger, 2008). Often, Latinos receive higher interest rates on loans, which also discourages them from seeking formal funds for their businesses (Blanchard, Zhao, & Yinger, 2008). Finally, culturally-related obstacles such as language barriers, identification requirements, and previous negative experiences of friends or family members may also deter Latinos from seeking formal loans (Steven Shepelwich quoted in Medley, 2010).

In addition to the level of financial assets that Latinos often lack, they also face human capital (education and work experience) deficits compared to Whites. Consequently, Latinos are limited in their ability to access the "high barrier" industries that generate higher profits but require more human and financial capital investments. For example, Bates, Lofstrom, and Servnon (2010) describe high barrier industries as those requiring advanced educational credentials or large amounts of startup capital. Industries such as professional services, finance or insurance are examples of high barrier industries while low barrier industries include personal services, construction or repair. Low barrier industries are easier to access, but limit business owners' ability to expand or profit (Bates, Lofstrom, & Servnon, 2010). Fairlie (2005) corroborates these findings and also found that Latinos' younger age contributes to higher exit rates from business.

Despite the preliminary findings that the preceding analyses provide, there are still several limitations in the current literature on Latino entrepreneurship. For example, some studies have limited their study samples to Latinos living in ethnic enclaves—a unique geographical context that is not usually generalizable to other areas (Logan, Alba, & McNulty, 1994; Raijman &

Tienda, 2000). Other studies include a limited number of cases (Smith-Hunter, 2006). Other analyses are not longitudinal in nature and therefore fail to capture information over the life course of businesses (Fairlie & Woodruff, 2010). This study offers new insight into the success of Latino-owned businesses by providing results from a secondary analysis of longitudinal data (five years) from a nationally representative cohort of new business owners.

Given the results of previous analyses, the goals of this study were to describe the characteristics of Latino business owners and their businesses; to examine the types of funds that Latino-owned businesses and businesses owned by other racial/ethnic groups utilized at startup; and to compare how the type of startup funds affected business survivability across racial/ethnic groups, with Whites as the reference group.

Data and Study Sample

To address our research goals, we utilized the Kauffman Firm Survey (KFS) (See Robb et al., 2009 for a detailed description.). The KFS contains a longitudinal dataset representing five years of business operations (2004-2009) for newly established firms in the U.S. The survey monitors 4,928 firms started in 2004, identified through the Dun & Bradstreet database and federal tax information. Owners of the businesses were contacted via telephone and online surveys to provide information on owner and firm characteristics, financial structure, and business performance.

The Kauffman Foundation released three years of follow-up data (2005-2008) in April 2010 in addition to the baseline (2004) data. Additionally, the Kauffman Foundation released the 2009 follow-up data in March 2011, which we incorporated in this analysis. The KFS is the largest available longitudinal dataset on small businesses that includes both owner and firm characteristics. Only those businesses legally identified as sole proprietorships, partnerships, or corporations (including franchises) are incorporated in the data. Other types of businesses such as non-profits, inherited businesses, or firms that are out-of-business are excluded.

The KFS provides detailed information on up to ten owners of each firm, including age, gender, educa-

tion, and previous work experience; firm characteristics such as the legal status and technology level of a firm; and financial information about firms such as the types of funds utilized at startup (debt and equity) as well as the source of the funds (family, friends, non-bank institutions, banks, other businesses, etc.). The KFS also includes an oversampling of minority business owners including Latinos, African Americans, and Asians. For the purposes of this analysis, we used all waves of the KFS data, which spanned from 2004 to 2009.

Study Sample

The KFS data include a sample of 4,928 firms. Each firm can have up to ten owners; however, we identified one primary owner using a method suggested by Alicia Robb at the Kauffman Foundation to extract the individual level information for owners necessary to accomplish our research goals. For example, if a firm has more than one owner, then the owner with the most equity in the firm is considered majority owner. If all owners have equal equity in the business, then the next level of classification used to identify the primary owner was the number of hours each owner worked. Since a majority of the firms in the data had a single owner only (60%) these methods were used only in 40% of the cases. After selecting the primary owners, our sample consisted of 4,815 firms with 3,722 White-owned firms, 383 African Americanowned firms, 244 Latino-owned firms, and 211 Asianowned firms (an additional 205 firms were identified as owned by "other/mixed race" primary owners but were not incorporated in this analysis).

Dependent Variables

Firm Survivability

To examine firm survivability we created a binary variable with values representing whether a firm survived or went out of business (0=survived, 1=out of business) for each of the five years of the survey (2004-2005, 2005-2006, 2006-2007, 2007-2008, and 2009-2009).

Independent Variables

The literature suggests that Latinos are constrained in their access to formal funding sources because of discrimination in the lending market, relying too heavily on friends or family members for financial support, poor or no credit history, or lack of access to or mistrust of banks (Granier, 2006; Haynes, Onochie, & Lee, 2008; Raijman & Tienda, 2000). Modeling after Lee & Zhang (2010) we formulated three types of startup funds: personal, formal and informal. These variables represent three separate types of startup funds in the data, but are not mutually exclusive for owner usage, indicating that an owner could use both informal and personal funds or formal and informal funds at startup, for example.

Personal Funds

Personal funds include owner investments and money any owner put forth for an ownership share in the business in the form of debt or equity. We coded the values for this variable as 0=firm did not use personal funds alone or in combination with other types of funds in the first year of operation and 1=firm used personal funds alone or in combination with other types of funds in the first year of operation.

Formal Funds

Funding from other companies, venture capitalists, or government agencies, either in the form of investments or loans to the business, are considered formal funds. We coded this variable as 0=firm did not use formal funds alone or in combination with other types of funds at the first year of operation and 1=firm used formal funds alone or in combination with other types of funds in the first year of operation.

Informal Funds

Informal funds include investments or loans to a business by family, friends, or spouse(s) of the owner(s). We coded this variable as 0=firm did not use informal funds alone or in combination with other



types of funds in the first year of operation and 1=firm used informal funds alone or in combination with other types of funds in the first year of operation.

Control Variables

Based on previous research findings, we control for both individual level (owner) and firm characteristics deemed influential to business failure or success.

Individual Level Variables

Race/Ethnicity

We constructed a nominal variable with four categories where 1=Whites, 2=African Americans, 3=Latinos, and 4=Asians. For the purposes of this analysis, we used Whites as the reference group.

Gender

Gender is an important factor impacting business success (Jones & Tullous, 2002; Robb & Coleman, 2009). Previous research suggests that women-owned firms are smaller and less growth-oriented compared to men-owned firms (National Women's Business Council, 2006; Robb, 2009). Latina entrepreneurs experience even lower labor force participation than other women, but 5% nationally are business owners (National Women's Business Council, 2010). They are also the least likely to use bank loans and are much less likely to use capital to start up businesses than Latinos (Smith-Hunter, 2006). For the purposes of this analysis, we use males as the reference group.

Age

Previous research suggests that Latino business owners are younger than their White counterparts (Raijman & Tienda, 2000). Age is a continuous variable in its original form for the purposes of this analysis.

Education

Latino business owners have lower levels of educa-

tion than their White counterparts (Raijman & Tienda, 2000). Previous research suggests that business owners with higher levels of education are more likely to survive as businesspersons because of the greater base of knowledge and the ability to learn faster or deal with financial institutions such as banks that can provide them with the necessary startup capital. Therefore, Latinos are at a disadvantage without the educational background that would enable them to take advantage of these resources. We coded education as 0=less than a college degree and 1=college degree or above.

Work Experience

Previous research suggests that work experience is important to business success (Fairlie & Robb, 2007). Similar to education, owners with more work experience have better access to sources of financial capital (Lee & Zhang, 2010). The KFS asked respondents the following question: "how many years of work experience have/has you/owner had in this industry—the one in which the business operates?" Respondents answered with the raw number of years and we kept this variable in its original form.

Business Level Variables

Business Technology Level

The KFS classified businesses as high, medium, or non-technology based on Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) codes (See Bates, Lofstrom, & Servnon, 2010 for a description of the methodology used to categorize businesses into the various technology strata). High technology businesses are more likely to survive compared to low-technology businesses in the personal services sector, for example. However, minority business owners are less likely to have the personal financial capital necessary to purchase the required infrastructure and inventory to start up a high- or even medium-technology business (Bates, Lofstrom, & Servnon, 2010).

Home-based Business

Small "microenterprises" are a common business venture for new business owners (Robles, 2007). Additionally, because of poor language proficiency, racism, an inability to obtain funds for new business ventures, and difficulty finding employment in the mainstream labor market, Latinos commonly occupy "niche" markets or engage in informal economic activities such as babysitting, street vending, home repair services, or ethnic food preparation for the local community (Robles, 2007; Hondagneu-Sotelo & Ramirez, 2009). These businesses may be located in an ethnic enclave or literally operate from an individual's home (Grey, 2006; Zhou, 2004). While the KFS does not provide an ethnic enclave variable, we constructed a home-based business variable to reflect the tendency of Latino business owners to occupy smaller, niche markets. The original variable available in the Kauffman Firm Survey asked respondents the following question: "how would you describe the primary location where the business operates?" Respondents chose from the five following categories: 1) a residence such as a home or garage, 2) a rented or leased space, 3) a space the business has purchased, 4) a site where a client is located, and 5) other. We coded this variable as 0=non-homebased business and 1=home-based business.

High Barrier vs. Low Barrier Industries

Evidence from a study by Bates, Lofstrom and Servon (2010) suggests that minority business owners have greater difficulty than Whites entering into high barrier or high capital-intensity industries. According to the authors, "barriers" include the human and financial capital resources that business owners need to enter into a particular industry. High barrier industries commonly include the professional services, manufacturing, finance and insurance, and wholesale trade industries, while common low barrier industries include personal or repair services and construction. We coded this variable as 0=professional services, finance, insurance, wholesale, and manufacturing sectors and 1=personal services, repair services and construction fields.

Analytical Strategy

The goals of this study were to compare Latinos to other racial/ethnic groups in terms of owner and business characteristics, the types of funds utilized at startup, and how the type of startup funds affected business survivability, with Whites as the reference group.

In the first stage of our analysis, we generated descriptive statistics for the individual-level (primary owner characteristics) and firm (business characteristics) variables for the study sample. We used bivariate analyses to test differences among racial/ethnic groups using t-test and chi-square as appropriate, with Whites as the reference group. We ran frequencies for each type of startup fund by racial/ethnic group to examine the type of startup funds that Latino business owners utilize compared to others.

In the second phase of our analysis we used Cox regression models for survival analysis to test for an association between startup fund type and business survivability over the first five years of operation, controlling for the owner and firm characteristics. The Cox proportional hazards model is a statistical technique used to model the expected time to an event (Lane, Looney, & Wansley, 1986). In this case, business closure is the event. The Cox proportional hazards model allows for the inclusion of covariates and measures whether the event of interest varies systematically when incorporating one or more covariates into a model (Bewick, Cheek, & Ball, 2004). In this instance, startup fund type and owner and firm characteristics are our covariates. The significance level was set to the conventional p<.05 for all the statistical tests.

Findings

Descriptive Statistics

Table 1 presents selected characteristics of the study sample by racial/ethnic group. Compared to all other racial/ethnic groups at baseline (2004), Latinos (n=244 or approximately 5% of the sample)



Table 1. Primary Owner and Firm Characteristics at Baseline by Race/Ethnicity (2004). 1

	Popula	Population White Black		Latino		Asian				
Primary Owner Characteristics by Race/Ethnicity	Percent (%)	Mean (SE)	Percent (%)	Mean (SE)	Percent (%)	Mean (SE)	Percent (%)	Mean (SE)	Percent (%)	Mean (SE)
Gender ² College Degree ³	25.6 87.5		24.6 86.8		34.3*** 91.3***		25.0 84.0		28.0 96.7***	
Business Characteristics by Race/Ethnicity										
Technology Sector High Technology Medium Technology Low Technology Barrier Level to Entering Industry Low Barrier Sector Home-based Business (0=no, 1=yes)	14.4 26.8 58.8 34.4 50.5		15.4 26.5 58.2 34.2 51.1		7.6*** 30.0*** 62.4*** 36.6 59.8***		9.8* 23.8* 66.4* 36.9 42.2**		13.7 31.3 55.0 28.9 40.8**	
Mean Yrs of Wk Exp Mean Age		12.9 (.16) 45.0 (.16)		13.4 (.18) 45.7 (.18)		10.8 (.48)*** 42.0 (.53)***		11.5 (.66)** 42.6 (.68)***		10.2 (.64)*** 40.7 (.67)***
Fund Types										
Formal funds Informal funds Internal funds	68.6*** 16.1*** 80.9		70.3 14.7 80.9		53.5*** 21.9*** 84.1		68.0 22.5*** 79.1		68.2 21.8** 80.6	

¹ Significant race differences using t-test or Chi-Square test; ***p<.001; **p,.01; *p<.05.

represented the lowest percentage of businesses with a college degree or above (84.0%), the second lowest percentage of businesses within the high technology sector (9.8%), the lowest percentage of businesses within the medium technology sector (23.8%), the highest percentage of businesses within the low technology sector (66.4%), and the highest percentage of businesses within the low barrier sector (36.9%).

Latinos also significantly differed from Whites in terms of mean age and mean years of work experience. Specifically, Latinos were significantly younger (42.6 years old vs. 45.7 years old) and had fewer years of work experience (11.5 years vs. 13.4 years) as compared to Whites. Furthermore, Latinos represented a significantly larger percentage of the low-technology sector businesses (66.4% vs. 58.2%), and a significantly smaller percentage of the high- and medium-technol-

ogy sector businesses (23.8% vs. 26.5% for the medium technology sector and 9.8% vs. 15.4% for the high technology sector). Latinos also represented a smaller percentage of the home-based businesses compared to Whites (42.2% vs. 51.1%).

African Americans were also younger on average (42.0 vs. 45.7), had fewer years of work experience on average (10.8 vs. 13.4), and represented a significantly larger percentage of low technology businesses (62.4% vs. 58.2%) compared to Whites. However, Latinos had a higher percentage of businesses within the low technology sector compared to both Whites and African Americans.

Compared to Whites, Asians were significantly younger, on average, (40.7 vs. 45.7) and had fewer years of work experience (10.2 vs. 13.4). Asians also represented a smaller percentage of home-based businesses compared to Whites (40.8% vs. 51.1%).

²male=reference group, ³<college degree=reference group, ⁴high barrier=reference group

Table 2. Hazard Ratios for Firm Survival by Startup Fund Types (2004-2009)

Variables	Model I	Model II	Model III
Fund Types			
Formal	.89 (.04)**		
Informal		1.1 (.05)**	
Personal			1.0 (.05)
Owner Characteristics			
Gender (male=reference group)	1.2 (.05)***	1.2 (.05)***	1.2 (.05)***
Age	1.0 (.00)	1.0 (.00)	1.0 (.00)
Education (<college=reference group)<="" td=""><td>.79 (.04)***</td><td>.78 (.04)***</td><td>.78 (.04)***</td></college=reference>	.79 (.04)***	.78 (.04)***	.78 (.04)***
Work Experience	.99 (.00)***	.99 (.00)***	.99 (.00)***
Firm Characteristics			
Barrier Level (High barrier- reference group)			
Low Barrier	1.2 (.05)***	1.2 (.05)***	1.2 (.05)***
Home-based	.95 (.04)	.96 (.04)	.96 (.04)
Technology Level (High Technology=reference group)			
Medium	.91 (.06)	.92 (.06)	.91 (.06)
Low	1.1 (.06)	1.1 (.06)	1.1 (.06)
Race (White=reference group)			
African American	1.2 (.08)*	1.2 (.08)*	1.2 (.09)*
Latino	1.4 (.11)***	1.3 (.10)***	1.4 (.10)***
Asian	.94 (.10)	.93 (.10)	.95 (.10)

^{***}p<.001; **p,.01; *p<.05.

With regard to startup funds, Latinos, African Americans and Asians were significantly (p > .05) more likely to utilize informal funds as compared to Whites. Furthermore, Latinos, African Americans, and Asians were less likely than Whites to utilize formal funds, but the results were statistically significant only for African Americans.

Cox Survival Analysis

Table 2 presents the results of the Cox survival analysis. They suggest that formal funds were associated with a significantly lower likelihood of going out of business, while informal funds were associated with a significantly higher likelihood of going out of business, after controlling for primary owner and firm characteristics. Specifically, businesses that utilized

formal funds alone or in combination with other types of funds at startup were approximately 11% less likely to go out of business compared to those businesses that did not use formal funds. In contrast, those businesses that utilized informal funds alone or in combination with other types of funds at startup were approximately 10% less likely to go out of business compared to those businesses that did not use informal funds. Finally, personal funds were not significantly associated with business survivability.

At the individual level (primary owner characteristics), the factors associated with business survivability included racial/ethnic group, gender, years of work experience, and education. At the business level, the type of industry (high versus low-barrier) also influenced the likelihood of staying in business during the first five years of operation. The next section presents the results for these factors found to be significantly associated with business survivability.

Racial/ethnic Group

From 2004 to 2009, businesses owned by Latinos were 1.4 to 1.3 times more likely to go out of business compared to White-owned businesses, controlling for the primary owner and firm characteristics and startup fund type. These results suggest that despite the type of startup funds utilized, Latino-owned businesses were still at a greater disadvantage in their ability to stay open compared to White-owned businesses.

Similarly, African American-owned businesses were more likely to go out of business compared to White-owned businesses, controlling for the primary owner and firm characteristics and startup fund type. Specifically, African American-owned businesses were 1.1 to 1.2 times more likely to go out of business compared to White-owned businesses controlling for primary owner and firm characteristics and startup fund type.

Finally, Asian-owned businesses were slightly less likely than White-owned businesses to go out of business, controlling for primary owner and firm characteristics and the type of startup funds utilized, although the result was statistically insignificant.

Education and Work Experience

Businesses owned by someone with a college degree or more were significantly less likely to go out of business compared to those businesses with an owner with less than a college degree, after controlling for primary owner and firm characteristics and type of startup funds utilized. Additionally, work experience significantly reduced the hazard of business failure, after controlling for primary owner and firm characteristics and the type of startup funds utilized.

Gender

Being a female business owner was significantly and positively associated with business failure, after controlling for other primary owner and firm characteristics and the type of startup funds utilized. Specifically, businesses with a female primary owner were 1.2 times more likely to go out of business compared to businesses with a male primary owner.

High vs. Low Barrier Industries

Businesses within the low barrier sector were 1.2 times more likely to go out of business compared to businesses within the high technology sector, controlling for primary owner and firm characteristics and the type of startup funds utilized.

Discussion

The results of this analysis lend support to the findings of previous studies. Specifically, we found that Latinos are younger and have fewer years of work experience, on average, compared to Whites (Fairlie, 2005). However, contrary to the results of previous studies, we did not find that Latinos had significantly less education (Fairlie & Woodruff, 2010) or operated

more home-based businesses (Delgado, 2006; Granier, 2006; Grey, Rodriguez, & Conrad, 2004) compared to Whites. However, these contrary findings could be related to the small number of Latinos in the KFS sample, or because of the methods that were used to capture the information contained in the data. For example, newly formed businesses were identified using the Dun & Bradstreet database and federal tax information, both of which would fail to capture any informal business activities. Latino business owners also tend to participate in smaller "informal economic activities", such as street vending businesses. Consequently, these formal sources of identification would not capture the full range of self-employment opportunities in which Latinos participate. As Raijman (2001) suggests, "caution must be exercised in using official sources for the study of ethnic entrepreneurship...census data do not cover other types of economic activities, such as part-time and irregular work or informal self-employment" (p. 47).

Our findings lend support to the hypothesis presented by Bates, Lofstrom, & Servnon (2010). For example, Latinos in our sample operated a greater percentage of businesses within the low technology or low capital intensity sectors as compared to Whites. As Bates, Lofstrom, & Serynon (2010) suggest, individuals with personal net worth of at least \$150,000 or more are able to open businesses within the higher technology, or so-called high capital intensity industries. Because racial/ethnic minorities tend to have lower personal wealth levels and limited borrowing power compared to Whites (Fairlie & Robb, 2008; Cavalluzzo & Walken, 2005), they are less able to penetrate the high barrier, high capital intensity sector.

Our findings contradicted those of previous studies on the types of startup funds that Latino business owners utilize, as we did not find that Latino business owners used significantly fewer formal funds compared to Whites (Haynes, Onochie, & Lee, 2008; Cavalluzzo & Wolken, 2005; Granier, 2006; Blanchard, Zhao, & Yinger, 2008; Bill, 2010). Instead, African Americans were the only race group significantly less likely to use formal funds compared to Whites. Nevertheless, Latinos were significantly more likely to use informal funds compared to Whites, consistent with previous findings in the literature (Granier, 2006; Onochie &

Lee, 2008; Raijman & Tienda, 2000). For example, 22.5% of Latino primary owners utilized informal funds compared to 14.7% of White owners, a significant finding. In comparison, 21.9% of African American owners and 21.8% of Asian owners utilized informal funds. While both of these findings significantly differed from Whites, they were not as pronounced as the results for Latinos compared to Whites.

The results of the Cox analysis suggest that Latinoowned businesses were at greater risk of going out of business compared to White-owned businesses, irrespective of the type of startup funds they utilized. Additionally, education and work experience of owners are important to business success for all racial/ethnic groups (Bates, Lofstrom, & Servnon, 2010; Fairlie, 2005). Women business owners also have more difficulty keeping their businesses in operation compared to male business owners, regardless of the startup funds utilized (Robb & Coleman, 2009). Finally, businesses within the low technology sectors or low barrier industries face a greater likelihood of going out of business compared to businesses within the high technology sectors or the high barrier industries (Bates, Lofstrom, & Servnon, 2010).

Study Limitations

The primary limitation of the KFS data is the relatively small number of Latinos in the sample (n=244). However, the KFS provides a relatively better sample of minority business owners compared to other datasets and also represents an important step in the right direction in terms of the type of data that need to be collected on Latino businesses. Additionally, we were unable to analyze the social capital aspects that also impact business success, such as the utilization of training programs, which was not added as a variable until 2008. Finally, because of the small number of Latinos in the sample, we were unable to include other variables deemed important to business survivability in the literature such as industry, region where the business is located, or whether the business was located in an ethnic enclave. This could be done by merging variables from other datasets.

Implications for Practice

This analysis is a first step in analyzing the impact of startup funds on Latino business survivability. To our knowledge, no other analyses have focused specifically on Latinos using the KFS data. Unfortunately, this study's findings are limited in terms of generalizability due to the small number of Latino cases in the sample. A much stronger analysis would emerge from a dataset with a larger sample of Latinos. We argue that cultural and social capital factors have a greater impact on business survivability for some groups, but that startup capital has an impact on overall business survivability regardless of the race/ethnicity of the owner(s). Although the results of our analysis suggest that Latinos have a greater chance of going out of business compared to Whites regardless of the type of startup funds that they utilize, formal funds were still a significant factor determining business survivability as evidenced in our models. Additionally, informal funds were associated with a significantly higher likelihood of going out of business, also evidenced in our models.

We take into consideration several factors when recommending that businesses need greater access to formal funds. First, we acknowledge that relying too heavily on credit to fund business ventures may put businesses at a disadvantage later on if they are unable to generate the money necessary to pay back loans. This is readily apparent with the Great Recession of 2008 that continues to plague the U.S. economy and future business development. However, we also argue that relying too heavily on friends, family, or other personal contacts is problematic, considering the limited financial resources that these sources are able to provide. Business owners who rely on these limited sources of capital are limited to smaller ventures that may not prove as viable or profitable in the long run. As Bates, Lofstrom, & Servnon (2010) suggest, business owners with large amounts of personal capital to spend on business startup will be able to open more lucrative businesses in the high-technology, high-barrier industries, while others languish in the vulnerable low-technology, low-barrier businesses.

Implications for Future Research

Interventions are needed to improve Latinos' access to formal sources of startup capital, although more research is also needed to address the specific obstacles that they face in obtaining formal funding for their new business ventures. Some research has begun to address this issue (Fairlie 2005; Fairlie & Woodruff, 2010; Raijman & Tienda, 2000) but more data need to be collected from both the business owners' and lenders' perspectives to glean the full scope of the problem. The currently available data are sorely lacking in a sufficient number of cases, as well as variables that measure the specific barriers that Latinos face when starting up new businesses. As this study suggests, the barriers that White, African American, or Asian business owners face are not the same as those that Latino business owners face in business survival, growth and profitmaking. Additionally, because Latinos are a very heterogenous group comprised of a large number of subgroups from different Latin and South American countries, an additional step that must be taken when collecting data on Latinos is the consideration of specific Latino subgroups.

References

- Bates, T., Lofstrom, M., & Servnon, L. (2010). Why Have Lending Programs Targeting Disadvantaged Small-Business Borrowers Achieved So Little Success in the United States? *Economic Development Quarterly*, 25(3), 255-266.
- Bewick, V., Cheek, L., & Ball, J. (2004). Statistic review 12: Survival analysis. Critical care, 8(6), 389-394.
- Blanchard, L., Zhao, B., & Yinger, J. (2008). Do lenders discriminate against minority and woman entrepreneurs? *Journal of Urban Economics*, 63(2), 467-497.
- Blanchflower, D. G., Levine, P. B., & Zimmerman, D. J. (2003). Discrimination in the Small Business Credit Market. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 85(4), 930-943.
- Cardon, M. S., Shinnar, R. S., Eisenman, M., & Rogoff, E. G. (2008). Segmenting the population of entrepreneurs: A cluster analysis study. *Journal of Developmental Entrepreneurship*, *13*(3), 293-314.
- Cavalluzzo, K., & Wolken, J. (2005). Small business loan turndowns, personal wealth, and discrimination. *Journal of Business*, 78(6), 2153-2177.
- Contreras, R., & Griffith, D. (2009). Mexican Tiendas in the Nuevo South: Building Relationships of Trust and Reciprocity with the Local Immigrant Community. *44th Annual Conference of the Southern Anthropological Society.* Wilmington, NC.
- Delgado, M. (2006). *Latino-Owned Businesses in Hall County: Preliminary Industry Overview.* Atlanta: Georgia Institute of Technology and the Enterprise Innovation Institute.
- Fairlie, R. W. (2005). Entrepreneurship among Disadvantaged Groups: An Analysis of the Dynamics of Self-Employment by Gender, Race and Education. Retrieved from http://people.ucsc.edu/~rfairlie/papers/published/springer%202006%20-%20handbook%20article.pdf.
- Fairlie, R., & Woodruff, C. M. (2010). Mexican-American Entrepreneruship. *Journal of Economic Analysis & Policy*, 10(1), 1-42.
- Flora, J., Thompson, D., Prado-Meza, C. M., & Flora, C. B. (2010). *Latino Business Entrepreneurs and Social Innovators in Four Iowa Communities*. Paper presented at the 9th Cambio de Colres Conference. Columbia, MO. Retrieved from http://www.cambiodecolores.org/2010/Papers/Handouts/FloraEtAlLatinoBusiness.pdf.
- Georgarakos, D., & Tatsiramos, K. (2007). *Entrepreneurship and Survival Dynamics of Immigrants to the U.S. and their Descendants.* IZA DP No. 2792. Bonn, Germany: Institute for the Study of Labor. Retrieved from ftp://repec.iza.org/RePEc/Discussionpaper/dp2792.pdf.
- Granier, M. (2006). *Hispanic Entrepreneurship: A comparison of Two Georgia Communities*. Atlanta, GA: Georgia Institute of Technology and the Enterprise Innovation Institute.

- Grey, M. A., Rodriguez, N. M., & Conrad, A. (2004). *Immigrant and Refugee Small Business Development.*New Iowans Program of the University of Northern Iowa. Retrieved from http://www.esd.uni.edu/ICILI/PDFDocument/Immigrant%20and%20Refugee%20Small%20Business%20Report.pdf.
- Griffith, D., Contreras, R., & Kissam, E. (2009). Calidad y Confianza (Quality and Trust): Latino Entrepreneurship in North Carolina and Beyond. David Griffith's Keynote Speaker Presentation at the Second Latino Leadership Summit. Greenville, NC.
- Haynes, G. W., Onochie, J. I., & Lee, Y. (2008). Influence of family's social relationships on the debt structure of Mexican-American and Korean-American small businesses. *Journal of Developmental Entrepreneurship*, 13(3), 343-361.
- Hispan Telligence. (2008). *The U.S. Hispanic Economy in Transition. Special Report Executive Summary.*Hispanicbusiness.com Retrieved from http://www.hispanicbusiness.com/research/heit_freedownload.asp?cat=exec.
- Jones, K., & Tullous, R. (2002). Behaviors of Pre-Venture Entrepreneurs and Determinants of Their Financial Needs. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 40(3), 233-248.
- Lee, J., & Zhang, W. (2010). *Financial Capital and Startup Survival (Preliminary Draft)*. Social Science Research Network. Retrieved from http://ssrn.com/abstract=1659046.
- Logan, J. R., Alba, R. D., & McNulty, T. L. (1994). Ethnic Economies in Metropolitan Regions: Miami and Beyond. *Social Forces*, 72(3), 691-724.
- McMeekin Sullivan, D. (2010). Executive Summary: The New Movers and Shakers: Factors Contributing to Hispanic Migration Decisions and the Pursuit of Entrepreneurial. *The Business Journal of Hispanic Research*, 4(1), 76-83.
- Medley, B. (2010, Summer). *Understanding the unbanked: Kansas City Fed listens to consumers through regional focus groups.* Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City. Retrieved from https://www.kansascityfed.org/publicat/ten/pdf/summer-2010/unbanked.pdf.
- National Women's Business Council. (2006). Fact Sheet: Latinas and Entrepreneurship. Washington, D.C.: National Women's Business Council.
- Puryear, A. N., Rogoff, E. G., Lee, M.-S., Heck, R. K., Grossman, E. B., Haynes, G. W., et al. (2008). Sampling minority business owners and their families: The understudied entrepreneurial experience. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 46(3), 422-455.
- Raijman, R. (2001). Mexican Immigrants and Informal Self-Employment in Chicago. *Human Organization*, 60 (1), 47-55
- Raijman, R., & Tienda, M. (2000). Immigrants' Pathways to Business Ownership: A Comparative Ethnic Perspective. *International Migration Review*, *34*(3), 682-706.

- Ramirez, H., & Hondagneu-Sotelo, P. (2009). Mexican Immigrant Gardeners: Entrepreneurs or Exploited Workers? *Social Problems*, *56*(1), *70-88*.
- Robb, A. M., & Coleman, S. (2009). *Characteristics of New Firms: A Comparison by Gender.* Kansas City, MO: Ewing Marion Kauffman Foundation.
- Robles, B. J., & Cordero-Guzmán, H. (2007). Latino Self-Employment and Entrepreneurship in the United States: An Overview of the Literature and Data Sources. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 613(1), 18-31.
- Robles, B. (2007). Tax Refunds and Microbusinesses: Expanding Family and Community Wealth Building in the Borderlands. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, *613(1)*, 178-191.
- Shinnar, R. S., & Young, C. A. (2008). Hispanic immigrant entrepreneurs in Las Vegas Metropolitan area: Motivations for entry into and outcomes of self-employment. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 46(2), 242-262.
- Smith-Hunter, A. E. (2006). An Initial Look at the Characteristics of Hispanic Women Business Owners and Their Businesses. *The Business Renaissance Quarterly*, 1(2), 101-140.
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2010). *Survey of Business Owners Hispanic-Owned Firms*: 2007. Retrieved from http://www.census.gov/econ/sbo/get07sof.html?11.
- Zarrugh, L. H. (2007). From workers to owners: Latino entrepreneurs in Harrisonburg, Virginia. *Human Organization*, 66(3), 240-248.
- Zhou, M. (2004). Revisiting Ethnic Entrepreneurship: Convergencies, Controversies, and Conceptual Advancements. *International Migration Review*, 38(3), 1040-1074.